DIVISION UNE

#### INTRODUCTION

In one of the most famous lines from a judicial opinion, Justice Cardozo once explained that "proof of 'negligence in the air'... will not do." *Palsgraf v. Long Island R.R. Co.*, 162 N.E. 99, 99, 248 N.Y. 339, 341 (N.Y. 1928). That has long been the law in Washington and nearly every other State.

With the Court of Appeals' decision below, however, negligence claims against broker-dealers may now fill the Washington air. The Court of Appeals' decision imposes on broker-dealers a new duty to monitor the suitability of transactions in a non-customer's brokerage account held at another brokerage firm—even if (as was the case here) the broker-dealer had no practical ability to so monitor those transactions. Compounding

that error, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's precedent to hold that a broker-dealer may also face control-person liability under the WSSA even if the broker-dealer had no control over the challenged transactions.

The plaintiffs in this case (the "Garrison Plaintiffs") sued Mark Garrison—their family member, a named beneficiary of the Garrison Family Trusts, and the Trusts' former manager and trustee—alleging that Mark's risky and speculative investments in 2008 caused the Trusts considerable losses. All of the Trusts' investments were held in brokerage accounts maintained at Wells Fargo Investments, LLC. No one disputes that, as manager and trustee, Mark had authority to direct the Trusts' investments in those accounts.

In addition to serving as the Trusts' manager and trustee, Mark was a registered investment adviser who co-owned Acumen Financial Group, Inc., an independent investment advisory firm. At the time of the allegedly risky investments, Mark was also an independent contractor/ registered representative for AIG, a FINRA registered broker-dealer. Mark was not AIG's employee. And the Trusts held no accounts at AIG and received no investment advice from AIG.

The Garrison Plaintiffs tried to pin liability on Wells Fargo in arbitration, but they lost. They also sued AIG, alleging that AIG was negligent in supervising Mark's trading activities in the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts. The trial court granted summary judgment to AIG.

But the Court of Appeals reversed on the negligent-supervision and WSSA claims. In its view, once Mark and Acumen began taking

investment advisory fees from the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts, National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (NASD) Rule 3040 (which governs, with certain exceptions, the private securities transactions of persons associated with broker-dealers) imposed on AIG a duty to monitor the suitability of Mark's investments in those accounts—even though Wells Fargo (the broker-dealer that held the accounts) had no corresponding duty.<sup>1</sup>

If that sounds like a perverse result, it's because it is. The Court of Appeals reached that strange (and inequitable) result by misapplying NASD Rule 3040 and this Court's precedents.

The Court of Appeals added error to error by holding that AIG must also face control-person liability under the WSSA for purportedly failing to monitor Mark's trades in the Wells Fargo accounts. AIG could not possibly have been a control person under the Act (a prerequisite to liability) because AIG had no control—none—over Mark's trades in the Wells Fargo accounts. In ruling otherwise, the Court of Appeals misapprehended the statute's reach and this Court's decision in *Hines v. Data Line Systems, Inc.*, 114 Wash. 2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990), which together limit control-person liability to those who in fact had control.

The Court of Appeals' opinion would be bad enough if it were "a restricted railroad ticket, good for this day and train only." *Smith v. Allwright*, 321 U.S. 649, 669, 64 S. Ct. 757, 88 L.Ed. 987 (1944) (Roberts, J., dissenting). Unfortunately, it's not. If left to stand, the decision will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The NASD is now known as the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA).

reverberate in the State's courts, encouraging strike suits against broker-dealers any time a broker-dealer purportedly ignores "red flags" in a non-customer's account held at another broker-dealer. That has never been the law in Washington or anywhere else.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- (1) Did Washington law impose on AIG a duty to monitor the suitability of Mark's investment activities in non-customers' accounts held at another broker-dealer?
- (2) Can a broker-dealer face control-person liability under the WSSA if the broker-dealer had no control over a trustee/manager's authorized investment decisions in non-customers' accounts held at another broker-dealer, just because the trustee/manager was also the broker-dealer's independent contractor?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Mark Garrison was a registered investment adviser who coowned Acumen, an investment firm in Bloomington, Minnesota. *See* Court of Appeals' Jan. 20, 2015 Op. 3.

In 1999, Mark became a registered representative for AIG, a registered broker-dealer. A written independent-contractor agreement governed the parties' relationship. Op. 3. That agreement remained in force from September 1999 until April 2009, at which point AIG terminated it. *Id.* at 2.

Mark was never AIG's employee.

2. In early 2006, Mark's grandparents Jack and Charlotte Garrison established the Garrison Family Trusts and placed the Trusts' assets in brokerage accounts at Wells Fargo Investments LLC, another registered broker-dealer. Op. 2. The Trusts named Mark as a beneficiary. *Id*.

In September 2006, Jack Garrison appointed Mark trustee and manager of the Garrison Trusts, giving Mark discretionary authority over the Trusts. Op. 2. In accordance with NASD Rule 3050, Wells Fargo provided AIG with duplicate copies of the confirmation slips and monthly statements for the Trusts' accounts. SagePoint's August 4, 2014 Motion to Reconsider (MTR) at 3; Op. 7-8.

On November 14, 2006, AIG sent Mark a letter acknowledging his appointment as trustee and manager of the Garrison Trusts. Op. 6. AIG also explained that, given Mark's status as an independent contractor/registered representative for AIG, he could not serve as the registered representative for the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts. *Id.* at 6-7.

3. Mark's contract with AIG required him to submit an Outside Business Activities Questionnaire (OBAQ) each year disclosing his outside business activities. Op. 6. On December 6, 2006, Mark submitted his OBAQ for 2005-06. In it, he disclosed that he was a registered investment advisor who co-owned Acumen, "an independent registered investment adviser, separate from [AIG]"; that he was "Trustee/Owner/Manager" of the Garrison Trusts; and that he was not an

"AIG investor provider representative." Id. at 9.

On March 14, 2007, Mark sent an email to the Garrison Trusts' stockbrokers at Wells Fargo and to the accountant for one of the Trusts explaining that he planned to hire Acumen to advise the Trusts. Mark also explained that Wells Fargo would continue to execute all trades for the Trusts. Op. 9. Two days later, Mark wrote a \$65,524 check from the Garrison Family LLC account to Acumen for "investment advisory services" rendered in the fourth quarter of 2006. *Id.* at 10.

In October 2007, Mark submitted his 2006-07 OBAQ. He again disclosed his ownership interest in Acumen. Op. 10. Mark also reported that he was "actively engaged" as "Trustee/Owner/Manager on accounts held at Wells Fargo investments in Seattle, WA, for my grandfather—Jack Garrison" (*id.*), and he suggested obliquely that his activities with the Garrison Trusts were linked to "investment related activity" by Acumen, a "Registered Investment Advisor." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

In December 2007, Mark wrote AIG informing the company of his plans to open personal brokerage accounts at TD Ameritrade. Op. 11. AIG approved the request and asked Mark to send it duplicate copies of confirmation slips and account statements for those personal accounts. *Id.* 

Mark controlled the trading activity in the Wells Fargo accounts. AIG made no investment recommendations for those accounts. MTR 6. It simply asked (in keeping with NASD Rule 3050 and internal policy) that Wells Fargo send it duplicate copies of account statements and trade confirmation slips so that it could ensure that Mark's activities posed no

threat to AIG or its customers. It made the same request of TD Ameritrade. But Rule 3050 imposed on AIG no duty to monitor the suitability of Mark's trades in the Wells Fargo or TD Ameritrade accounts.

4. The Garrison Plaintiffs allege that, in 2008, Mark transferred nearly \$10 million from the Garrison Trusts to his personal brokerage accounts at TD Ameritrade, paid Acumen excessive investment advisory fees totaling more than \$550,000, paid himself excessive trustee fees exceeding \$370,000, and caused the Trusts more than \$20 million in losses by making risky investments in 2008. *See* April 22, 2011 Compl., ¶¶ 77-79, 86-88, 106-10, 114-29, 143, 205. The Garrison Plaintiffs first sued Wells Fargo in arbitration to recover those losses. In April 2012, a FINRA arbitration panel ruled in Wells Fargo's favor and dismissed the Garrison Plaintiffs' claims. MTR 17.

Meanwhile, in April 2011, the Garrison Plaintiffs sued Mark alleging "Securities Law Violations, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Negligence, and Other Claims." Op. 2. The Garrison Plaintiffs also named AIG as a defendant, alleging claims for negligent supervision, violation of the WSSA, and *respondeat superior*. See id. ¶¶ 172-208.

AIG denied liability, contending that it had no duty to monitor Mark's trading activities in the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts and that, in any event, it was not negligent. AIG's June 28, 2011 Answer ¶¶ 186-92, 194-97. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment.

5. The trial court granted summary judgment to AIG on all claims. AIG dismissed its cross-claim against Mark, and the parties stipulated to a

final judgment under CR 54(b). The Garrison Plaintiffs appealed.

The Court of Appeals reversed the grant of summary judgment to AIG on the negligent-supervision and WSSA claims. AIG moved the Court to reconsider its decision. It did, issuing a revised opinion, but the Court stood by its decision to reinstate the negligent-supervision and WSSA claims against AIG.

On the negligent-supervision claim, the Court agreed with AIG that NASD Rule 3050 governed Mark's transactions in the Wells Fargo accounts—both before and after Mark and Acumen started taking investment-advisory fees from the accounts. Op. 22, 31-32. The Court also agreed that AIG had complied with Rule 3050. *Id.* at 31-32.

But then the Court of Appeals lost its way. It held that once Mark and Acumen began taking investment fees from the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts, NASD Rule 3040 kicked in and imposed on AIG a duty to supervise Mark's transactions in the accounts. Op. 27-32. The Court reached that conclusion even though Rule 3040 excludes from its coverage "transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050." NASD Rule 3040(e)(1). The Court of Appeals also held that even if Rule 3040 did not apply, there are material issues of fact about whether "suspicious circumstances" in the Wells Fargo accounts raised "red flags" that AIG should have investigated and about "whether the information Mark submitted in the October 2007 OBAQ required [AIG] to investigate potential[ly] unapproved outside business activity as an investment advisor for the Garrison Trusts and the Garrison Family LLC." *Id.* at 32.

The Court of Appeals also reversed the grant of summary judgment to AIG on the WSSA claim, holding that AIG might qualify as a "control person" under the Act because it somehow could have controlled Mark's trading activities in the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts. Op. 33-34.

This petition follows.

#### **ARGUMENT**

In reviving the negligent-supervision and WSSA claims against AIG, the Court of Appeals turned FINRA Rule 3040 and Washington law on its head. Never before has a court imposed on a broker-dealer a general duty to supervise an independent contractor's trading activities in a non-customer's account held at another broker-dealer. Yet that is now the law in Washington. *See Am. Disc. Corp. v. Shepherd*, 129 Wash. App. 345, 355, 120 P.3d 96 (2005) *aff'd*, 160 Wash. 2d 93, 156 P.3d 858 (2007) ("Where the Supreme Court has not addressed an issue, an existing Court of Appeals decision is the law.").

No one disputes that when Mark became trustee and manager of the Garrison Family Trusts, AIG had no duty to supervise the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts. Nor does anyone dispute that the Garrison Trusts were never AIG's customers. And yet despite all that, the Court of Appeals held that AIG may face liability for purportedly failing to monitor Mark's trading activities in the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts even though Wells Fargo itself had no similar duty—all because Mark (permissibly) took advisory fees from the Wells Fargo accounts.

That twisted result cannot stand. This Court should correct it now to bring Washington law back into the judicial mainstream.

## I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN IMPOSING A DUTY ON AIG TO MONITOR NON-CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNTS HELD AT ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER.

The Court of Appeals resurrected the negligent-supervision claim against AIG based on its twin conclusions that (1) NASD Rule 3040 imposed on AIG a duty to supervise Mark's transactions in the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts once he and Acumen began taking investment advisory fees from the accounts, and (2) even if Rule 3040 did not apply, "suspicious activity" in the accounts and in Mark's OBAQ submissions raised "red flags" sufficient to trigger a duty on AIG's part to investigate his trading activities in the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts. Op. 32. The Court erred on both counts, and those errors threaten to transform Washington into a breeding ground for opportunistic (but meritless) broker-dealer litigation.

# A. The Court of Appeals' holding that NASD Rules 3040 and 3050 can apply to the same transaction flouts the Rules' plain language and turns the law of negligent supervision on its head.

The Court of Appeals correctly held (and the Garrison Plaintiffs concede) that NASD Rule 3050 applied to Mark's transactions in the Wells Fargo accounts. The Court of Appeals also held—again, correctly—that AIG fulfilled its limited obligations under Rule 3050 and that, in any

event, Rule 3050 imposed on AIG no duty to protect the Garrison Trusts. Op. 21-22, 32-32.

But in the very next breath, the Court of Appeals ruled that once Mark and Acumen began taking investment advisory fees from the Wells Fargo accounts, NASD Rule 3040 imposed on AIG a duty to monitor Mark's transactions in those accounts. That holding flies in the face of Rule 3040's language, which makes clear that the Rule does not apply to Rule 3050 transactions or accounts.

Rule 3040 applies only to "private securities transactions," which the Rule defines as follows:

#### (e) Definitions

For purposes of this Rule, the following terms shall have the stated meanings:

(1) "Private securities transaction" shall mean any securities transaction outside the regular course or scope of an associated person's employment with a member, including, though not limited to, new offerings of securities which are not registered with the Commission, provided however that transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050, transactions among immediate family members (as defined in Rule 2790), for which no associated person receives any selling compensation, and personal transactions in investment company and variable annuity securities, shall be excluded.

NASD Rule 3040(e)(1) (emphasis added).

By its terms, Rule 3040 does not apply to "transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050." That should have been the end of the matter: Everyone agrees that Mark's transactions in the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts were "subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050," so Rule 3040 did not apply. Period.

The Court of Appeals reached the opposite conclusion based on an unnatural—and as NASD commentary reveals, conclusively wrong—reading of the Rule. According to the Court, Rule 3040 does not exclude from its coverage *all* Rule 3050 transactions; it excludes only Rule 3050 transactions "for which no associated person receives any selling compensation." Op. 24.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that under the canon of construction known as the last-antecedent rule, the qualifying phrase "for which no associated person receives selling compensation" normally would modify only the last antecedent ("transactions among immediate family members (as defined in Rule 2790)"), but the Court concluded that the placement of a comma before the qualifying phrase "means that the phrase applies to both preceding antecedents: 'transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050' and 'transactions among immediate family members . . . for which no associated person receives selling compensation." Op. 24.

The Court of Appeals' application of the so-called "comma exception" to the last-antecedent rule was wooden. *See State ex rel. Wilson v. King County*, 7 Wash. 2d 104, 108, 109 P.2d 291 (1941) ("[C]anons of interpretation are . . . at the most aids to construction, and after all it becomes the duty of the court to determine, if possible, what the real intention of the lawmakers was."). The Court applied the exception as

a first resort (not a last) and did so mechanically, affording talismanic power to a single comma. That was a mistake: "Punctuation is a most fallible standard by which to interpret a writing." *Ewing's Lessee v. Burnet*, 36 U.S. 41, 54, 9 L.Ed. 624 (1837). In pressing its eye against a single comma, the Court of Appeals blocked its vision of other indicia of meaning—grammar, syntax, official NASD commentary, other rules of construction. Those other cues confirm that Rule 3040 excludes from its coverage all Rule 3050 transactions, even those for which an associated person receives selling compensation.

First, Rule 3040's grammatical structure leaves no doubt that the qualifying phrase modifies only "transactions among immediate family members (as defined in Rule 2790)," not "transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050." The clause "transaction among immediate family members (as defined in Rule 2790), for which no associated person receives any selling compensation" is the second in a series of three types of transactions excluded from Rule 3040's coverage. If the SEC had wanted the qualifying phrase "for which no associated person received selling compensation" to apply both to Rule 3050 transactions and to transactions among immediately family members, it would not have placed that phrase behind the second of three items in a series. At the very least, it would not have done so without also joining the first two items in the series with a conjunction.

The most natural reading of Rule 3040 is that it excludes three different types of transactions from its coverage: (1) Rule 3050

transactions; (2) transactions among immediate family members for which no associated person receives any selling compensation; and (3) personal transactions in investment company and variable annuity securities. The Court of Appeals looked past the Rule's plain meaning.

Second, even if Rule 3040's language left some doubt about its coverage, NASD commentary would erase it. In its official commentary on Rule 3040, the NASD explained that the phrase "for which no associated person receives selling compensation" modifies only "transactions among immediate family members":

Transactions subject to Article III, Section 28 of the NASD Rules of Fair Practice, and personal transactions in investment company and variable annuity securities are excluded [from Rule 3040's coverage], as are transactions among immediate family members (as defined in the Interpretation of the Board of Governors on Free-Riding and Withholding) for which no associated person receives any selling compensation.<sup>2</sup>

NASD Notice to Members 85-84 (Nov. 12, 1985); see also FINRA Notice to Members 91-27 n.1 (1991) ("The transactions subject to Section 28 [Rule 3050] are not considered to be private securities transactions [under] Article III, Section 40 of the Rules of Fair Practice [another name for Rule 3040]."). That commentary—to which courts owe great deference (see, e.g., In re Sehome Park Care Ctr., Inc., 127 Wash. 2d 774, 780 903 P.2d 443 (1995) (en banc); Dawson v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co., 135 F.3d 1158, 1168

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Article III, Section 28 of the NASD Rules of Fair Practice" is another name for Rule 3050.

(7th Cir. 1998))—confirms that Rule 3040 does not apply to any Rule 3050 transaction. The Court of Appeals erred in holding otherwise.

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