RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 23, 2015, 1:30 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91371-4

E CRF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 69625-4-I)

JACK M. GARRISON; the GARRISON FAMILY LLC, a Washington limited liability company; LESA B. NEUGENT, individually and as Trustee of the JACK M. GARRISON AND CHARLOTTE L. GARRISON REVOCABLE TRUST, the JACK M. GARRISON SURVIVOR'S TRUST, the CHARLOTTE L. GARRISON MARITAL TRUST, the CHARLOTTE L. GARRISON EXEMPT MARITAL TRUST; the CHARLOTTE L. GARRISON EXEMPT FAMILY TRUST FBO MARK GARRISON, and the CHARLOTTE L. GARRISON EXEMPT FAMILY TRUST FBO LESA NEUGENT,

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

AIG says, “AIG . . . *had no reason* to think that Mark posed a threat to the Garrison Trusts or to himself.” PFR at 18. That is incorrect. The duplicate copies of Appellants' monthly Wells Fargo brokerage statements and Mark's and his wife's monthly personal brokerage statements showed Mark wiring a total of more than \$9,600,000 in large lump sum transfers out of Appellants' accounts directly into Mark and his wife's personal brokerage account, at the same time as he was frenetically

² Decl. of Leslie N. Ayers (CP 245-247), ¶¶ 4- 6, in Appellants' Appeal Brief at 22-23.

day-trading million dollar positions, concentrated in a small number of heavily-leveraged, speculative stocks. Appellants' Brief on Appeal at 21-22. One might argue the inferences to be drawn from these facts, but it is flat out false for AIG to represent that there was "*no* reason to think" Mark might have posed a threat to the Garrison trusts.

AIG says, "AIG also explained that, *given Mark's status as an independent contractor/registered representative* for AIG, he could not serve as the registered representative for the Trusts' Wells Fargo accounts." *Id.* at 6-7. PFR at 5. This is untrue, and the citation does not support it. Neither the Opinion nor the letter to which this refers mentions Mark's independent contractor status, which was irrelevant to anything.

AIG claims it "asked (in keeping with NASD Rule 3050 and internal policy) that Wells Fargo send it duplicate copies of account statements and trade confirmation slips *so that it could ensure that Mark's activities posed no threat to AIG or its customers.*" (Emphasis added.) PFR at 6-7. This is incorrect and again the citation does not support it. AIG's letter (quoted in the Court of Appeals' Opinion, at 6-7) didn't say, "so that it could ensure that Mark's activities posed no threat to AIG and its customers." AIG just made that part up. AIG's letter said it needed the statements so it could monitor the accounts and supervise him.

III. THE COURT'S HOLDING ON THE ISSUE OF DUTY TO SUPERVISE IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER WASHINGTON APPELLATE COURT DECISION

The trial court ruled that AIG had no duty to supervise Mark Garrison's investment adviser activities in Appellants' brokerage accounts at Wells Fargo Advisors. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that disputed issues of fact precluded summary judgment on that issue. The court held that *if* AIG knew, or reasonably should have known, that Mark was acting as an investment adviser for Appellants' accounts and was not just giving investment advice, but was actually participating in securities transactions for which he was being paid, then AIG had a duty to supervise those activities. Opinion at 22-30.

No one disputes that brokerage firms are required to generally supervise their stockbrokers. Opinion, at 18-19. Nor does anyone dispute that broker-dealers have a more extensive duty to supervise their stockbrokers than an ordinary employer's duty to supervise employees. *See* Opinion at 18-22. Finally, it is undisputed that the plain text of NASD Rule 3040 requires broker-dealers to supervise some of their stockbrokers' securities transactions in brokerage accounts at another firm. The issue is whether that duty includes Mark Garrison's activities in Appellants' brokerage accounts in the specific circumstances of this case.

NASD Rule 3050 applies to a registered representative's *own* accounts, and accounts over which he has "discretion" (meaning, the authority to make the investment decisions), opened at another firm. Opinion at 20-21. It requires a relatively low level of supervision beyond that. Opinion at 21-22. Everyone agrees that Rule 3050 would apply before AIG knew, or reasonably should have known, that Mark was receiving compensation for engaging in securities transactions in Appellants' Wells Fargo brokerage accounts. Opinion at 21-22.

NASD Rule 3040 applies to "private securities transactions," defined broadly—with certain exceptions that are at issue here—as "any securities transaction outside the regular course or scope of an associated person's employment with a member." Opinion at 23. Broker-dealers must supervise "private securities transactions" closely. Opinion at 19.

There is an obvious potential overlap between NASD Rules 3040 and 3050, which is addressed excluding certain categories of transactions from the definition of "private securities transactions" in Rule 3040:

"Private securities transaction" shall mean any securities transaction outside the regular course or scope of an associated person's employment with a member . . . provided however that transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050, transactions among

immediate family members (as defined in Rule 2790),³ *for which no associated person receives selling compensation, and personal transactions in investment company and variable annuity securities, shall be excluded.*

Opinion, at 23. So the extent of a broker-dealer's duty to supervise its stockbrokers' transactions at a different firm depends on whether Rule 3040 exempts *all* transactions "subject to the notification requirements of rule 3050," or only those transactions for which the registered representative receives no compensation?

AIG misrepresented a rule of construction, the "last antecedent rule," to the Court of Appeals by omitting part the rule that applies when a comma precedes the modifier, urging the Court to follow the (misstated) rule. Brief of Respondent SagePoint Financial, at 27-28. The Court of Appeals adopted AIG's misstatement of the last antecedent rule and, concluded in an Opinion issued July 14, 2014, that, under the last antecedent rule, Rule 3040 would not apply to Mark's conduct. But the Court went on to review and analyze securities industry rules and regulations at length to hold that, despite the construction suggested by the last antecedent rule, Rule 3040 exempted only those Rule 3050

³ Rule 2790 does not define grandparents as a broker's immediate family. Quoted in Opinion, at 23, fn. 18.

transactions for which the stockbroker received no compensation.

Opinion, at 15-27, 30-32.

AIG moved for reconsideration, arguing that the Court erred by not simply following the result dictated by the last antecedent rule.

Respondent's Motion for Reconsideration, at 9.⁴ Appellants' response pointed out that the Court had misstated the last antecedent rule.

Appellants' Opp. to Respondent's Motion for Reconsideration, at 4-7. The Court of Appeals did so issued the amended Opinion, at issue here on January 20, 2015, correctly stating and applying the last antecedent rule (Opinion, at 24), but otherwise leaving the rest of its analysis and conclusions unchanged.. So now AIG argues the exact opposite of what it argued before: the last antecedent rule doesn't matter after all, and disparaged the Court of Appeals' amended Opinion as giving "talismanic power to a single comma." PFR at 11-12.

In any event, the last antecedent rule wasn't the primary basis for the Court of Appeals holdings. The Court analyzed and relied heavily on

⁴ Respondent's Motion for Reconsideration, at 9: "The Court, in its Opinion, then properly applied the rules for interpreting statutes and regulations to conclude that the Garrison Wells Fargo Accounts were Rule 3050 accounts whether or not any associated person received "selling compensation." Op. at 23-24. But the Opinion then wholly disregards this interpretation."

the National Association of Securities Dealers' (NASD)⁵ interpretations of its own rules (Opinion, at 24-27) to hold that: broker-dealers do have a duty to supervise their registered representatives who engage in securities transactions "outside" of their own firm, in a specific set of circumstances:

- (1) When one of a broker-dealer's stockbrokers is simultaneously licensed as investment adviser employed by a different investment advisory firm,
- (2) acting in his capacity as an investment adviser and not a stockbroker,
- (3) actively participates in securities transactions (as opposed to giving investment advice) for a an investor whose account is at different brokerage firm, and
- (4) receives compensation in connection with those transactions.

Opinion at 18, 22-30. But the Court of Appeals further held that the duty to supervise arises in these circumstances only if the broker-dealer knew, or reasonably should have known, all of these facts. Opinion at 27.

No one disputes that Mark was dually registered. The Court of Appeals found (and AIG does not deny) that the facts established most of the other circumstances: "Mark [1] acted as an investment advisor [2]

⁵ At the time of the events at issue here securities broker-dealers were regulated by both the NASD and the New York Stock Exchange, each of which had its own set of rules. The enforcement arms of the NASD and NYSE merged to form the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). The prior two sets of rules have since been combined into a new set of FINRA rules, which are substantively very similar to the prior rules. The NASD's rules as they were at the time of the events here apply to this action.

receiving selling compensation and [3] directed private securities transactions [4] in the Wells Fargo brokerage accounts.” Opinion at 27. (Bracketed numbers added.) The Court found issues of fact on the last element—“whether AIG knew or should have known” those facts. Opinion at 30. (Bracketing added.)

A. AIG misrepresents what the Court of Appeals held on the issue of duty to supervise.

AIG distorts and confuses the discussion of duty by repeatedly misstating what the Court of Appeals held. *E.g.*, AIG says the Court of Appeals held that

broker-dealers [have] a new duty to monitor the suitability of transactions in a non-customer's brokerage account held at another brokerage firm—*even if* (as was the case here) the broker-dealer had no practical ability to so monitor those transactions. PFR at 1. (Emphasis added.)

The Court did not hold a broker-dealer had a duty to supervise such transactions “even if they have no ability to monitor” them. And in fact an AIG supervisor actually *did* monitor and review Mark’s transactions (*supra*, at p.3) so obviously AIG had the “practical duty to do so.”

AIG says the Court

held that once Mark and Acumen began taking investment fees from the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts, NASD Rule 3040 . . . imposed on AIG a duty to supervise Mark's transactions in the accounts . . . *even though Rule 3040*

excludes from its coverage “transactions subject to the notification requirements of Rule 3050.” PFR at 8.

The Court did not hold AIG could have a duty to supervise “*even though* Rule 3040 excludes transactions covered by Rule 3050.” Instead the Court held Rule 3040 does not exclude transactions covered by Rule 3050 for which a stockbroker receives compensation. And the Court did not decide that AIG had a duty to supervise; it found that disputed issues of fact existed on that issue. Opinion at 30. AIG says the Court of Appeals held that broker-dealers have

a general duty to supervise an independent contractor's trading activities in a noncustomer's account held at another broker-dealer. Yet [under the Court's opinion] that is now the law in Washington. PFR at 9. (Emphasis added.)

This is nonsense. The Court of Appeals nowhere held anything like “broker dealers have a general duty” to supervise “independent contractors” trading activities in accounts at a different firm. AIG says the Court of Appeals held that

NASD Rule 3040 imposed on AIG a duty to supervise Mark's transactions in the Garrison Wells Fargo accounts once he . . . began taking investment advisory fees from the accounts, *even if Rule 3040 did not apply.* PFR at 10.

The Court did not hold that Rule 3040 imposed a duty to supervise “even if Rule 3040 did not apply.” This doesn’t exhaust AIG’s misstatements of the Court of Appeals’ holdings.

B. AIG Just Argues the Court of Appeals Got the Facts Wrong on the Issue of Duty

AIG doesn’t argue that the Court of Appeals’ Opinion conflicts with any other Washington appellate decisions, but just disagrees with the Court’s factual and legal conclusions.⁶

AIG simply ignores the industry authority on which the Court of Appeals relied in ruling on the duty issue—a series of NASD Notices to Members (NTMs) discussed in its Opinion at pp. 24-27. Never does AIG in any of its briefing—at any stage of the proceeding—address *any* of the NTM’s on which the Court of Appeals based its ruling, or cite any authority indicating that Rule 3040 does *not* apply on our facts: when a broker-dealer (1) knows (2) that one of its dually-registered stockbrokers (3) is acting as an investment advisor (4) for investors at a different brokerage firm, where (5) he is participating in securities transactions (6)

⁶ “Rule 3040’s language . . . makes clear that the Rule does not apply to Rule 3050 transactions or accounts” (PFR at 11); the Court’s conclusion was based on a “wrong reading of the Rule” (*Id.* at 12); the Court’s reading of Rule 3040 “was a mistake (*Id.* at 12-13); “Rule 3040’s grammatical structure leaves no doubt that the qualifying phrase modifies only ‘transactions among immediate family members’” (*Id.* at 13).

for compensation. Instead, AIG picks snippets out of context from two NASD Notices to Members—NTM 85-84 and NTM 91-27— that have nothing to do with stockbrokers acting in as investment advisers (PFR at 14). The NTMs relied on by the Court of Appeals were issued specifically to address that circumstance.

C. The Court of Appeals’ Opinion on the Issue of Duty Does Not Conflict with any Washington Appellate Court Decision.

AIG never expressly argues that the Court of Appeals’ Opinion on the issue of duty to supervise “is in conflict” with any decision of this Court or another Court of Appeals. AIG just says —with no explanation— that under the Court’s Opinion “a plaintiff *arguably* doesn’t need to make” the showing to prove a negligent supervision claim required by *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 51-52, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) and *Smith v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*, 144 Wn. App. 537, 544, 184 P.3d 646 (2008). PFR at 17-18. (Emphasis added). That does not identify a direct conflict in case law requiring Supreme Court clarification.

In any event, the Court of Appeals Opinion doesn’t conflict with *Niece* or *Sacred Heart*. The facts in those cases are so dissimilar with the present case that the law discussed in them can’t even be compared. *Niece* and *Sacred Heart* involved claims against a hospital, and an assisted living

facility, respectively, for sexual assaults committed by their employees. The present case involves the duties not of an employer, but of a securities broker-dealer, to prevent not physical injury, but investment losses, caused not by an employee's dangerous tendencies, but by a stockbroker's violations of securities industry laws, rules, and regulations. Secondly, the Courts in *Niece* and *Sacred Heart* applied common law principles that have evolved to delineate the scope of an employer's duty to supervise employees whose criminal or other intentional conduct outside the scope of employment causes physical injuries to third parties. Here, the Court of Appeals analyzed and applied securities industry laws, rules and regulations—not common law—to determine what duty the standard of care in the securities industry imposes on securities broker-dealers. The source, purpose, and policy of the law applied in *Niece* and *Sacred Heart* is unrelated to the source, purpose, and policy of the law applied here.

Finally, AIG claims that *Niece* and *Sacred Heart* hold that, under Washington law, no party can be liable for negligent supervision unless two elements are proved:

[A] plaintiff asserting negligent supervision must prove that (among other things) the defendant knew or should have known that the supervised person posed a risk of harm to others, *and* (2) the plaintiff was a foreseeable victim of the defendant's negligence." PFR at. 17-18. (Emphasis by AIG.)

This overstates the holdings of those two cases, which were based on the special relationship between an employer and employee. *Niece, supra*, at 48; *Sacred Heart, supra*, at 544.

Mark Garrison was not an AIG employee. AIG's duty to supervise him is based on AIG's special relationship as the brokerage firm with which he was registered. Appellants Brief on Appeal, at 23-28. The Court's holding that the industry standard of care may have imposed on AIG a duty to supervise Mark's conduct (Opinion at 15-27) applies only to broker-dealers, not all employers. It does not conflict with any Washington appellate court decisions.

IV. COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING ON THE "RED FLAGS" ISSUE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY WASHINGTON APPELLATE COURT CASE.

The Court applied the general rule on a broker-dealer's duty to take action when it has notice of red flags suggesting improper conduct by one of its brokers, summarized in *McGraw v. Wachovia Sec. LLC*, 756 F. Supp. 2d 1053, 1075 (N.D. Iowa 2010):

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